IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID SNELGROVE,)
Appellant,))
vs.) CASE NO. SC09-2245
STATE OF FLORIDA,)
Appellee.)))

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK Florida Bar No. 249238 CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER 444 Seabreeze Blvd. – Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118-3941 (386) 254-3758

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a death penalty appeal following a remand from this Court for a new penalty phase trial before a new jury and the resultant resentencing to two death sentences.

On July 12, 2000, the State charged David Snelgrove by indictment with two counts of first- degree murder (premeditated and/or felony), armed robbery and burglary of a dwelling with an assault, stemming from the June 2000 death of Glyn and Vivian Fowler. (SV 1, R 13-15)¹ The jury found Snelgrove guilty of two

¹The symbol "V" refers to the volume numbers, with the volumes of the transcripts being referenced according to the sequential numbers *assigned by the clerk's office for the entire record on appeal*, and not by the concurrent volume numbering of the court reporters' transcripts. "SV" refers to the volumes of the supplemental record.

counts of first-degree murder, one count of robbery with a deadly weapon, and one count of burglary of a dwelling with battery. On the two counts of first-degree murder, the jury found Snelgrove guilty of both premeditated and felony murder. In the penalty phase, the jury recommended the sentence of death by a vote of seven to five. However, this recommendation did not individually address the two capital murder convictions for which Snelgrove was to be sentenced. Instead, the undifferentiated recommendation was: that "[a] majority of the jury, by a vote of 7/5, advise and recommend to the court that it impose the death penalty upon David B. Snelgrove." *Snelgrove v. State*, 921 So.2d 560, 565 (Fla. 2006). Because of the lack of a separate sentencing recommendation by the jury for *each* murder conviction, this Court reversed the death sentences and remanded for a new penalty phase proceeding before a new jury. *Snelgrove*, *supra*.²

Immediately prior to the new penalty phase, and in preparation therefor, the defense psychologist re-interviewed Snelgrove and, for the first time, reported to defense counsel that he suspected that Snelgrove may be mentally retarded. (V 3, T 8-9) As a result, the defense moved the court for a continuance to conduct new

² Certiorari review of the case was denied by the U.S. Supreme Court on October 2, 2006. *Snelgrove v. Florida*, 549 U.S. 836 (2006)(*mem.*). By this time, original defense trial counsel had left the employ of the public defender and new capital trial counsel hired, who had to familiarize himself with the case. Thus, the new penalty phase trial was to begin on January 22, 2008.

testing on the defendant and for the expert to analyze whether the defendant was indeed mentally retarded, matters he could complete within a couple of weeks. (V 3, T 9-10; V 4, T 56-57) Elected State Attorney John Tanner objected, assuring the court that a denial of the continuance would not be reversible error. (V 3, T 22) The court denied the continuance, ruling that the expert could do his testing while the case was proceeding, and further finding that, pursuant to the rule and statute, the issue of mental retardation was premature until after the jury had rendered its advisory verdict and the court itself was preparing for sentencing. (V 3, T 32; V 4, T 56-57, 68-69; V 8, T 605-606; V 10, T 833)

But I think that issue, according to the general rules as they prescribe it, can pretty well be intelligently meted out and resolved ultimately prior to the -- any final sentencing that has to be imposed or that's appropriate. So I think we're on the right course on that, so I just wanted you to make sure you checked the rule.

(V 8, T 605-606)

The expert's testing (at night during the course of the new penalty phase trial, per the court's order) indicated that the defendant's full-scale I.Q. was a 70, within the range for mental retardation, and that further analysis of the other requirements for a diagnosis of mental retardation were necessary and would take some time. (V 3, T 32; V 4, T 56-57, 68-69; V 8, T 605-606; V 10, T 833. V 11, T 1004-1005) The court denied a further defense request for continuance for the

expert to complete his diagnosis, again ruling "we're not there, nor do we need to be," [indicating that they were not yet in the capital proceeding where mental retardation was an issue]. (V 11, T 1004-1005) But the defense was forced by denial of the continuance requests, to go forward without the completion of a mental retardation diagnosis.

The defense unsuccessfully objected to victim impact testimony and photographs ultimately entered into evidence (V 10, T 920-934; V 11, T 946-948, 958-962, 963, 964-968), and requested a newly-formulated jury instruction, then pending approval before the Supreme Court, which specifically told the jury that they could not consider the victim impact evidence as an aggravating circumstance, and that their consideration was limited solely to the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (V 1, R 60-71; V 10, T 934; V 17, T 1793-1794; V 18, T 1839-1840) Instead, pursuant to the state's request and over defense objection, the jury was instructed that they could consider this evidence in making their decision (V 19, T 2010, 2017-2018, 2026).

The defense also unsuccessfully sought the newly-submitted jury instruction on a jury being permitted to dispense mercy even if the aggravating factors outweighed mitigation. Instead, the jury was instructed that they must follow the law and determine if the mitigation outweighed the aggravating factors in order to

recommend life. (V 1, R 60-71; Vol. 15, T 2004, 2005, 2010, 2018)

During testimony of a mental health expert, the court excluded testimony designed to show the drug's widely-recognized effect on the brain and conduct, illustrated by its effects in the laboratory on rats. (V 13, T 1243) The court agreed with the state that such testimony would first have to be *Frye* tested for general acceptance in the scientific community. (V 13, T 1243) Similarly, on the state's cross-examination when the expert attempted to answer a question by reference to established research and a report of the National Institute on Drug Abuse (NIDA), the court excluded the illustration, ruling such would require another long *Frye* hearing. (V 13, T 1287-1288)

On the afternoon of the sixth day of the new penalty phase trial, after the state had rested and the defense presented its case in mitigation regarding the defendant's mental deficiencies and drug addiction, the state presented a newly-prepared redacted version of Snelgrove's four-hour interrogation by police after the killings, ostensibly for the purpose of showing the defendant lacked any mental deficiencies. (V 16, T 1587-1596) The defense argued against its admission, first contending that the recording was totally irrelevant in rebuttal, since the only evidence presented to the jury (by the defense mental health expert) was uncontradicted that it was impossible to determine from such an interrogation

whether the defendant suffered from mental issues. (V 17, T 1662-1664, 1670, 1682-1683, 1729-1730, 1739) Additionally, the defense argued, the state's indication, for the first time six days into the new penalty phase trial, that it would present such a redacted tape completely surprised the defense and, as such, was a violation of the state's continuing duty to provide discovery. (V 16, T 1590; V 17, T 1667-1670) The defendant also objected to those portions of the new tape which showed a legally-inadmissible lie detector (voice stress analysis) test. (V 17, T 1663-1664) The court ruled the redacted tape would be admitted, ruling that it was relevant to the issue of the defendant's "competency." (V 17, T 1670-1671, 1740-1742) The defendant further moved for a continuance to review the state's newlyprepared redacted tape compared to the entire recording, to ascertain whether additional redacted matters should also be included in the presentation to the jury. (V 16, T 1664-1665, 1667-1670, 1682-1683; V 18, T 1806, 1810, 1831-1832) When technical glitches prevented the defense from completing its review of the two tapes during the night recess, the court refused any further delays for the defense to prepare its own video.³ (V 18, T 1806, 1813-1815, 1852)

³ The court insisted that the defense simply show the original unredacted tape to the jury, stopping and starting it at relevant places, which the defense declined to attempt, complaining that it would highlight to the jury deletions in the recording. (V 18, T 1820-1821, 1824-1825, 1828-1830, 1839-1845, 1852)

Following the argument and jury instructions telling them they must follow the law, the jury recommended death sentences for both killings by a vote of 8 to 4. (V 18, T 1950; V 19, T 2004, 2005, 2010, 2018).

The defendant moved to declare Section 921.137, Florida Statues, dealing with the procedure and burden of proof for a finding of mental retardation, unconstitutional, arguing that it placed an improper burden of proof on the defendant, and further that its limitation to an IQ of 70 or under failed to recognize the proper mental health range for retardation, up to an IQ of 75. (V1, R 132-133, 134-135) The trial court ruled that the statute was not unconstitutional (V 1, R 138-139, 142-143), and held a hearing on the defendant's mental retardation, concluding that he was not retarded. (V 1, R 166-170)

The court then imposed sentences of death for each of the murders, finding in aggravation for both: (a) a previous conviction of a felony of tampering with evidence, for which he had been placed on community control, assigning it "little to some weight" due to the non-violent nature of the offense (tampering with evidence by attempting to swallow his crack cocaine); (b) a previous conviction of another capital felony or of a felony involving the use or threat of violence to the person, to-wit: the contemporaneous murder of the other victim ("great weight"); (d) while engaged in the commission of a robbery or burglary and (f) for pecuniary

gain, which the court considered to be merged into a single aggravator (significant weight); (h) heinous, atrocious, or cruel, the court finding the knife and bludgeoning attack on the much older and smaller victims "viscous" (sic) and "deliberate" and that each victim was conscious during at least the beginning of the attack; and (m) the victims were particularly vulnerable due to their advanced ages and disparity in size. (V2, R 175-182)

The court rejected the statutory mitigating factors of (a) no significant history of prior criminal activity;⁴ (f) the capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of his or her conduct or to conform his or her conduct to the requirements of law was substantially impaired,⁵ and the defendant's age of 26.⁶ (V2, R 182-184)

The court found the statutory mitigating circumstance of "under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance" and noted the presence of cocaine in Snelgrove's system at the time of the murder and his drug addiction and craving for cocaine "certainly had some impact on Mr. Snelgrove's thinking at the

⁴ rejecting any argument that, since the offenses were relatively minor and all drugrelated, the mitigating factor should still be found to apply and given some weight.

ont mentioning or disputing that the defense experts had presented unrefuted physical evidence and testimony specifically indicating that Snelgrove, although appreciating the criminality, was substantially impaired in conforming his conduct.

⁶ noting that he was in ESE classes, but rejecting the mitigator because Snelgrove was able to "complete . . . adult tasks."

time of the murders, giving it "significant weight." (V1, R 183) The court also found the following nonstatutory mitigating factors: 1) Snelgrove was a hard worker (some weight); 2) he was a loving and caring person who was loved by his family (some weight); 3) defendant had a long history of drug addiction and had unsuccessfully sought treatment (significant weight); 4) the death of his parents greatly affected the defendant (some weight); 5) defendant is a model inmate and has adjusted well to the structured environment of jail, giving it "little weight considering the difficulty of predicting future conduct;" 6) Snelgrove has abnormal brain function and limited intelligence (only affording it some weight due to fact he had good adult adaptive skills) (V2, R 184-186) The court totally rejected as non-statutory mitigation that Snelgrove had a very troubled childhood, indicating that there was no evidence which demonstrated that he suffered lifelong effects from brain injuries from his fall as an infant or his accidental ingestion of his uncle's Haldol, from which he almost died. (V 2, R 184)

In conclusion, the court imposed two death sentences, finding that the

⁷ but making no mention of the defendant's biological mental disturbance, the organic brain damage and malfunctions to the temporal lobes and subcortical areas of the defendant's brain (which cause problems with control of one's emotions, impulses, and aggression), nor without mention of Snelgrove's low intelligence level, his prenatal alcohol exposure and childhood ingestion of a large quantity of a relative's Haldol, and crack cocaine's inflammation of existing psychotic disturbances, and intensification of his ongoing manic symptoms.

aggravating circumstances outweighed the mitigating factors, particularly the "most weighty" contemporaneous conviction of the other murder and the heinousness of the crimes, and that the defendant had the ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law, but simply chose not to. (V 2, R 186-187).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 2, 2000, the defendant, David Snelgrove, found himself alone, put out on the streets with no money, no clothes, no transportation, no orderly transition from the drug rehabilitation treatment he had been receiving, and no support to aid him in his quest to rid himself of his severe crack cocaine habit. (V 13, T 1273-1276, 1277-1278) His life had been spiraling downward since the sudden and unexpected death of his mother, his emotional and structural support, followed within weeks by the death of his father. (V 12, T 1093-1094, 1116-1117, 1158)

David also had mental issues prior to his fall into drugs; biological brain damage, resulting perhaps from prenatal alcohol exposure when Snelgrove's mother continued to drink and party when pregnant, particularly damaging to the central nervous system of the developing fetus. (V 12, T 1174; V13, T 1472, 1476, 1487, 1490) She also would give her infant son tranquilizers to make him sleep so she could leave the house to go partying. (V 12, T 1176)

David's fall from a shopping cart as a toddler (10-11 months old), wherein he had to be hospitalized with a soft "bashed-in head," could also have been responsible for the brain injury. (V 12, T 1103, 1143; V 14, T 1387; V 15, T 1489) He was often, during this time, left in the care of his mentally disturbed cousin. (V

12, T 1179-1180) While a young child of five years old, Snelgrove accidentally ingested this relative's Haldol and was rushed to the hospital after he quit breathing. This event could also have caused his biological brain damage. (V 12, T 1104, 1144; V 14, T 1387; V 15, T 1489)

Snelgrove's parents divorced when he was six and he bounced between his mom and dad, eventually ending up with his mother, to whom he had become quite close and also unusually dependent upon for structure and emotional sustenance. (V 12, T 1145) Snelgrove has a low I.Q. and was a slow learner. (V 12, T 1055-1056, 1105) Enrolled in special education classes, he dropped out of school before completing the tenth grade. (V 15, T 1505, 1562; SV 4, R 329-342) Because of a learning disability, Snelgrove was only able to do the most menial of jobs, but he had a history of gainful employment and was a dedicated and hard worker. (V 12, T 1085, 1118, 1127, 1147-1148, 1178)

But it was the deaths of his parents, so close together in the fall of 1998, that had caused David to become despondent and spiral downward into daily crack cocaine addiction, suffering intensely from the loss of the emotional support and structure his mother had provided. (V 12, T 1093-1094, 1116-1117, 1158) He had been arrested for multiple, non-violent offenses, all aimed at obtaining money to feed his habit, the uncontrollable chemical urges for more and more of the drug. (V

13, T 1197-1198, 1201-1203, 1301; V 15, T 1535) The last arrest had been for tampering with evidence, attempting to swallow his crack cocaine when confronted by police, which had placed him on probation. (V 10, T 912, 916)

David relocated away from the drug influences he had in Orlando and moved in with his aunt and cousin in Flagler County. (V 12, T 1153, 1168-1169)⁹ The defendant willingly enrolled in and participated in an out-patient drug treatment program, but with little success. (V 13, T 1198, 1265) After discussions with his mental health and substance abuse counselor and his community control officer, David, realizing that if he wanted to free himself from the shackles of crack addiction he would need a more structured program, affirmatively sought placement into a residential drug treatment program. (V 13, T 1198, 1265)

Hence, he had found himself finally enrolled into the Salvation Army Residential Rehabilitation program in March 2000. And for three months he had been there, he had been quite successful. (V 13, T 1265-1268) With the help of the drug program, David was able to control his urges and, as shown by drug testing, was able to stay drug free for over three months, a highly impressive feat, according to expert witnesses. (V 13, T 1265-1268) He was an active participant

⁹ David's sister, Ann Thomas, recalled an incident in Orlando wherein David was chased and stabbed by "the crack man." (V 12, T 1149)

in the counseling sessions. (V 13, T 1268) For the first time in recent memory, Snelgrove had high hopes for success in beating the bonds of drug addiction and making something of his life. (V 13, T 1275-1276)

But, David and a female co-resident had become attracted to each other, ¹⁰ and, in violation of the program's regulations on fraternization, kissed and fondled each other after attending church. (V 13, T 1268-1269) Realizing their error, and knowing that their rehabilitation was more important than a relationship, the two discussed their relationship and agreed to terminate it, since it was not worth pursuing and had to be avoided so that they could receive the help they needed to lick their drug habits. (V 13, T 1272-1273) When their indiscretion was discovered, though, the two patients were disciplined by demoting them to Level One for an additional two weeks, with greater restrictions. (V 13, T 1275)

Despite his learning disability, Snelgrove struggled to compose a letter to the drug program administrators, admitting his transgression and accepting his punishment, another great step in his recovery process, according to the experts, and begging for the center's continued help. (V 13, T 1272-1273, 1275-1276)

Inexplicably, two weeks later when the restrictions were to be lifted, in an apparent

¹⁰ a quite common occurrence in residential rehab programs, so much so that most drug rehabilitation programs are not co-ed. (V 13, T 1268-1269)

general crackdown on all of the residents, David and his co-resident's punishments were increased and David was immediately expelled from the residential drug treatment. (V 13, T 1201-1202, 1277-1278, 1280-1282)

So this was how Snelgrove found himself on June, 2000, outside of the Salvation Army, alone, put out on the street without his belongings, without any transition, and counseling for that transition, back into the real world, and without any means of getting home. Desperately wanting to remain drug free, he immediately telephoned his AA sponsor seeking his help in keeping off of drugs now that he was on his own. (V 13, T 1283-1284)¹¹ The AA sponsor declined or was unable to assist David and he was left with only his cousin, Jeff McRae (a crack user), for a ride home. (V 13, T 1283-1284, 1312-1314) Immediately upon picking up David, McRae purchased some beers and told Snelgrove that he was going to purchase some crack cocaine. (V 13, 1312-1314) David pleaded with Jeff not to, saying he wanted to remain off of drugs, and David successfully resisted his cousin's temptation, another huge attainment in his hopes at drug recovery. (V 13, 1312-1314)

Upon his ouster from the drug program at the beginning of June 2000,

According to an expert witness, this was absolutely the right thing for David to attempt, showing that he had learned from the drug program and, now that that lifeline had been

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