IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID BEASHER SNELGROVE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-2245 L.T. No. 00-00323 CFA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

rebuttal.

For example, Dr. Berland found that Snelgrove was substantially impaired in his capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law by virtue of a chronic or continual psychosis, brain damage, or some combination. However, Dr. Berland admitted that he did not ask Snelgrove anything about the offenses and therefore had no idea what Snelgrove was thinking at the time of the crimes. When Dr. Berland was asked the rather logical, and in the State's view, glaringly obvious question, on why he did not bother to ask Snelgrove about the charged murders, Dr. Berland explained simply that was not "what my job was." (V15, 1516).

Courts have found video tapes and confessions of defendants relevant on issues of mental capacity or competency. 10 See e.g.

⁹ In an apparent contradiction to finding the statutory mental mitigator of diminished capacity to conform, Dr. Berland claimed that he did "not put any causal relationship" between Snelgrove's mental illness and the charged offenses. (V15, 1539). "I don't have any - - enough information to give a causal link between the mental illness and the crime." (V15, 1540).

¹⁰ In <u>Arizona v. Mauro</u>, 481 U.S. 520, 107 S. Ct. 1931 (1987), the Court concluded that allowing a suspect to talk to his wife after he had invoked his right to silence did not constitute a custodial interrogation. The tape recording was introduced at trial, over defendant's <u>Miranda</u> objection, in order to rebut the defendant's claim that he was insane at the time of the killing. <u>Mauro</u> suggests that as a matter of relevancy, a tape of the defendant pursuing a mental competency defense shortly after the charged crimes is so obviously relevant, that an objection on that ground [relevancy] is rarely lodged or discussed unless

Perri v. State, 441 So. 2d 606, 609 (Fla. 1983)("Although defendant objects to the admissibility of this video tape, it is relevant to show that he was, at that time, under the influence of some mental or emotional disturbance."); Lambert v. State, 888 P.2d 494, 499 (Okla. Cr. 1994)(court finding "the use of Appellant's confession, given prior to trial and available from the beginning of this entire procedure, is permissible determining Appellant's competence to stand trial."); Glover v. Newton-Embry, 2009 WL2413925, 8 (W.D. Okla. 2009) ("Specifically, given the State's evidence that Petitioner was faking incompetence and Petitioner's evidence of her mental retardation, the video provided an opportunity for the jury to compare her demeanor and ability to communicate at the time of her husband's death with the demeanor and communication skills she displayed during the competency trial.")(citations omitted); State v. Widenhouse, 582 So. 2d 1374, 1387 (La. App. 2 Cir. 1991) ("the trial court did not abuse its discretion in allowing the state to rebut the expert testimony by replaying defendant's confession.").

some other legal issue is addressed, such as invocation or waiver of <u>Miranda</u>. And, there is no Fifth or Sixth Amendment challenge here because Snelgrove validly waived <u>Miranda</u> and at the point in the questioning he subsequently invoked counsel, all questioning ceased. The invocation of counsel was not shown to the jury on the redacted DVD. (V16, 1597).

Snelgrove has cited no authority for the proposition that a video tape of a defendant, taken shortly after a murder, is inadmissible on the basis of relevancy when a question is raised surrounding the defendant's mental state or capacity. Consequently, it certainly cannot be said that the trial court abused its broad discretion in admitting the tape in rebuttal.

See Brooks v. State, 918 So. 2d 181, 188 (Fla. 2005)(A trial court's admission of evidence will not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear abuse of discretion.").

Appellant next asserts that the trial court was somehow required to grant a continuance to the defense so that they could further examine and possibly counter the tape. The trial court was under no such obligation where the tape was simply a shortened version of tapes the defense had possessed for years, since the first trial. The DVD was provided to the defense on the afternoon of January 29th, during an afternoon break. (V15, 1568). Under the circumstances, the trial court was quite accommodating to the defense, since the material reflected in the DVD or tape had long been in defense counsel's possession. The court provided a lengthy recess for the parties to review

Defense counsel was provided a copy of the edited or shortened version of defendant's statement, which was just over 50 minutes long, at 2:00 on the afternoon of January 29th. (V16, 1587, 1603).

the tape in court. 12 (V16, 1655-56; V17, 1660). Further, the trial court gave the defense an overnight recess in order to view the original tapes and select additional portions, should they choose, to show the jury. (V17, 1742-43). "Well, that is afforded to you [time], so take advantage of that. If there's something you think needs to be presented from that evidence, feel free to do that." (V17, 1743). After briefly discussing jury instructions, the court recessed over night. (5:05 pm). (V17, 1802).

The record makes it clear that the court and State were more than willing to accommodate counsel in their efforts to prepare for and present any evidence they desired from the unedited version of the defendant's statement. (V18, 1817-20). As the court explained: "They say you can play any of it or all of it. You need to decide which portions that you want to play and be prepared to that to the jury." (V18, 1821). The prosecutor also noted that a VHS player was in the courtroom and the defense could play any portion of the tapes it wanted to for the jury. (V18, 18276). Rather than do so, counsel simply announced his objection on constitutional grounds. (V18, 1821).

The record reflects the court recessed at 10:47 a.m. and reconvened at 1:40 p.m. (V17, 1660). However, when the court reconvened, defense counsel asserted he or his staff experienced technical problems viewing the original tapes and therefore were unprepared to present their own version or additional matters. (V18, 1815).

When defense counsel stated he did not know what he wanted to play, the trial court was unimpressed, noting that it had the tapes for years: ". . .I find it difficult to believe you don't know how much of it you did want to play and see if there's a better way that we can find that permits you to play it." (V18, 1831). Under the circumstances, and, without defense counsel articulating any compelling need for a continuance, the trial court was under no objection to delay the penalty phase trial.

There was nothing unfair about the procedure employed by t.he trial court below. Defense counsel may have been inconvenienced by having to view the tape, but inconvenience is not grounds for excluding relevant evidence. As this Court observed in Cooper v. State, 336 So. 2d 1133, 1138 (Fla. 1976): "Our rules were not designed to eliminate the onerous burdens of trial practice. Their purpose was to avail the defense of evidence known to the state so that convictions would not be suppression of evidence favorable to obtained by the defendant, or by surprise tactics in the courtroom."

While appellant, in passing, mentions the State introduced a "materially changed" exhibit (Appellant's Brief at 39), no such alteration evidence was introduced below. And, no

Defense counsel mentioned some areas he wanted to cover, but, apparently decided against presenting any part of the unedited tapes, claiming that stopping and fast forwarding the VHS tape could irritate the jury. (V18, 1829).

supporting facts or argument accompany this allegation on appeal. Consequently, this argument has not been preserved on appeal. See Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990).

Finally, appellant briefly mentions the reference to a voice stress test in the tape and observes that polygraph are clearly inadmissible as matter of results а (Appellant's Brief at 39). However, the State submits that any objection to the tape on the basis of including reference to the stress test has been waived. While initially, perhaps, defense counsel raised a concern that the tape referenced a stress test or lie detector (V17, 1664), after viewing the redacted DVD defense counsel failed to mention this objection or request that this portion of the tape be excised. Defense counsel simply argued the tape was irrelevant and offered argument in support of his relevancy argument. (V17, 1729-30, 1739-40). the tape was played for the jury, did defendant object to the tape on this specific basis. [counsel did renew his objection on grounds previously raised]. See McGirth v. State, 48 So. 3d 777, 791 (Fla. 2010)(counsel's failure to obtain a specific ruling on any specific item of victim impact evidence and

The State does not disagree with this non-controversial statement of the law, but notes that no such polygraph or stress test results were admitted in this case. See Sochor v. State, 883 So. 2d 766, 787 (Fla. 2004)(polygraph results not admissible without consent of the parties).

failure to contemporaneously object to specific victim impact evidence operated to waive his claim even though counsel had filed an earlier motion to exclude victim impact evidence); Teffeteller v. State, 495 So. 2d 744, 747 (Fla. 1986)(stating that "[a]ppellant cannot bootstrap this concern over" [revealing the defendant's prior death sentence] in voir dire "to alleviate the requirement of а contemporaneous objection.")(citing Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332 (Fla. 1982)); Blackwood v. State, 946 So. 2d 960, 967 (Fla. 2006)(defendant "failed to present the trial court with an opportunity to rule upon the specific arguments now raised and the claim is therefore procedurally barred.")(citing Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)).

Assuming, however, this issue has been preserved, it is nonetheless without merit. This was a penalty phase and the defendant's guilt had therefore been established. Consequently the overriding credibility concerns surrounding admission of a lie detector test at trial are simply not present. See Lundy v. State, 51 So. 3d 1171, 1174 (Fla. 5th DCA 2010)("Cases finding harmful error when a polygraph is referred to involve testimony revealing the results of the examination or where the only inference to be drawn from the testimony would be that the testimony of a critical witness had been corroborated by the polygraph.")(citing Dean v. State, 325 So. 2d 14, 17 (Fla. 1st

DCA 1975)). Moreover, the stress test results were not admitted, only the relevant portion, showing Snelgrove following directions and communicating clearly and coherently with Officer Courter. The jury would not draw any adverse conclusion to Snelgrove's credibility from brief mention of the stress test. 15

As noted, mention of the lie detector in a penalty phase, where guilt has been established, is much less likely to cause prejudice than a trial situation. Moreover, the prosecutor was careful to excise any results of that stress test from the tape shown to the jury. (V16, 1606) ("This had been - - any implication or statement of that - - of the result of the test has been excluded"). Even at trial, mention of a polygraph does not require reversal or even amount to error in situations similar to here, where there is no mention of the test results. For example, in White v. State, 17 So. 3d 822, 824 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), the Fifth District found no error despite the fact that the jury learned that a state's witness was required to testify truthfully and take a polygraph examination as part of a plea bargain. The court observed: "The mere mention of a polygraph examination is not prejudicial when no inference is raised as to the result or any inference that could be raised is not

¹⁵ Officer Courter explained: "What we have is a CVSA instrument, computerized voice stress analyzer, and it kind of works like a polygraph, but it recognizes deception, but it just works off of voice." (V17, 1713).

prejudicial. Neither [the witness's] testimony, nor the prosecutor's statements, indicated the results or raised an inference as to the results of the polygraph examination." (citing <u>Hutchins v. State</u>, 334 So. 2d 112, 113-14 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)).

The stress test was admissible not on the question of Snelgrove's credibility, but his demonstrated cognitive ability. The tape reflects Snelgrove's ability to communicate, relate to the questioner in an appropriate manner, and follow directions. Thus, it was relevant to his mental state and capacity shortly after the murders, an issue raised by the defense in these penalty phase proceedings. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its discretion by failing to redact or excise reference to the stress test. Moreover, since the reference to the test was just a small part of an otherwise admissible tape lasting nearly one hour, any error in referring to the stress test was clearly harmless.

In conclusion, the taped interview of Snelgrove, made shortly after the murders, was relevant on the issue of Snelgrove's mental state, an issue placed directly in question by defense testimony in this case. Consequently, the trial court did not abuse its broad discretion in allowing the State to introduce the tape in rebuttal. But, if any error can be discerned, it would be harmless under the facts of this case.

Officer Courter provided cumulative testimony to that depicted on the tape. 16 And, in this heavily aggravated case, it cannot be said admission of this tape constituted harmful error.

ISSUE III

WHETHER THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENT ON WEIGHING AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING FACTORS WAS INAPPRORPLATE IN CONJUNCTION WITH THE TRIAL COURT'S PROVISION OF THE STANDARD INSTRUCTION ON WEIGHING MITIGATING AND AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCES? (Stated by Appellee)

Appellant initially asserts that the prosecutor argued that the "law" required a death recommendation in this case. Appellant also asserts an unrelated claim that the trial court failed to provide his specially requested instruction on a jury recommendation for life which is based upon mercy, and, not balancing the mitigating and aggravating factors. Neither argument has any merit.

As an initial matter, the question surrounding the prosecutor's comment Snelgrove pursues on appeal has been waived. Appellant argues that the prosecutor's argument amounted to telling the jury the law required a death

Officer Courter testified without objection to his observations of Snelgrove over a three to four hour period and during that time he had the opportunity to observe Snelgrove's demeanor and ability to communicate. (V18, 1902). Snelgrove appeared sober and responsive, giving directions, spelling names, and understood the language and conversation. (V18, 1904). Snelgrove never gave an inappropriate or bizarre answer. (V18, 194-06).

recommendation. However, defense counsel's objection, in its entirety was as follows: "I'm going to object to that, Your Honor. That may not be in the instructions, but that's the case law." (V18, 1950). Defense counsel's objection preceded the prosecutor asking the jury to consider what the defense lawyers had said, "that justice is always satisfied with a Now, where is that written? Where did that --" sentence. [objection]. Id. Snelgrove's argument on appeal is that the prosecutor impermissibly told the jury to follow the law and that the law requires that they recommend death. (Appellant's Brief at 41). The specific argument now made on appeal bears no resemblance to the objection lodged below. Consequently, the argument has been waived on appeal. See Blackwood v. State, 946 So. 2d 960, 967 (Fla. 2006) (defendant "failed to present the trial court with an opportunity to rule upon the specific arguments now raised and the claim is therefore procedurally barred.")(citing Steinhorst v. State, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982)); Card v. State, 803 So. 2d 613, 622 (Fla. contemporaneous objection is required to preserve an issue surrounding a prosecutor's comments in closing argument.). This Court has stated that for an error to be so fundamental "that it can be raised for the first time on appeal, the error must be basic to the judicial decision under review and equivalent to a denial of due process." State v. Johnson, 616 So. 2d 1, 3 (Fla.

1993)(citing <u>D'Oleo-Valdez v. State</u>, 531 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 1988); Ray v. State, 403 So. 2d 956 (Fla. 1981)).

In any case, assuming for a moment this Court examines the merits of appellant's unpreserved claim that the prosecutor argued the law requires a death recommendation, the error is without merit. While the prosecutor did ask jurors to follow the law, he did not state that the "law" required a death recommendation in this case. He did ask the jurors to follow the law as instructed by the trial court. The prosecutor stated, in discussing justice:

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